IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FIRST 100, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 1st ONE HUNDRED HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Appellants

vs.

TGC/FARKAS FUNDING, LLC,

Respondent.

Case No. 82794

Electronically Filed
Sep 15 2021 04:10 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from a decision in favor of Respondent
entered by the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada
The Honorable Mark R. Denton, District Court Judge
District Court Case No. A-20-822273-C

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

JASON R. MAIER, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 8557

jrm@mglaw.com

Joseph A. Gutierrez, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 9046

jag@mgalaw.com

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the district court's post-judgment Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order ("FFCL") entered on April 7, 2021, with notice of entry thereof also filed on April 7, 2021. On April 15, 2021, Appellants filed their notice of appeal. AA1386-1429.¹ Thus, this appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a) and is an appeal from a special order entered after final judgment pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

¹ "AA" refers to Appellants' Appendix.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(7), which covers “appeals from postjudgment orders in civil cases.” Following the judgment order issued by the district court, further motions followed, which resulted in an evidentiary hearing and FFCL as to the postjudgment issues.

Respondent has indicated that it believes this matter should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because it “originated in business court.” *See* 6/1/2021 Motion to Dismiss Appeal at fn. 1. To the contrary, this matter did not originate in business court, as shown by the case number (A-20-822273-C) ending in “C” and not “B,” which notes this is a “civil” case and not a “business” case. No party filed a motion for a business court setting, and while the matter was heard before the Honorable Mark Denton, who has a separate business court docket, it was not placed in the business court docket, and has remained a “C” case from its inception.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the district court erred in finding that non-party to the action Jay Bloom “is the alter ego” of First 100, which was not a cause of action brought against Jay Bloom or First 100, and which was not the subject of the limited evidentiary hearing underlying the district court’s FFCL.

Whether the district court erred in ordering that First 100 and non-party to the action Jay Bloom are “jointly and severally responsible for the payment of all the

reasonable fees and costs incurred by [TGC/Farkas Funding LLC].”

Whether the district court erred in denying Appellants’ motion to enforce settlement after finding that Matthew Farkas of TGC/Farkas Funding LLC “did not have actual or apparent authority to bind Plaintiff under the Settlement Agreement.”

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This dispute involved a company books and records request, with respondent TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC demanding access to First 100, LLC and 1st One Hundred, LLC’s (collectively “First 100”) business records, arguing that its status as a purported member of First 100 substantiated the right to examine First 100’s company records. The matter was initiated in arbitration through the American Arbitration Association, where the Arbitration Panel determined that First 100 is required to “make all the requested documents and information available from both companies to [Plaintiff] for inspection and copying.” AA0010. The arbitration award was later confirmed by the district court, resulting in a judgment in favor of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC in the amount of \$23,975.00.² AA0053-59.

Thereafter, a dispute arose as to whether the parties had settled the matter, which resulted in various motions being filed, including a motion to enforce settlement filed by First 100, and a motion for an order to show cause filed by

² TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC was subsequently awarded another \$9,060.20 in additional fees and costs related to the arbitration proceedings. AA0575-578.

TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC. AA0156-208; AA0330-574; AA0585-715. The district court conducted an evidentiary hearing as to the motions in March 2021, and issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order (“FFCL”) on April 7, 2021, with notice of entry thereof also filed on April 7, 2021. AA1264-1341.

In the FFCL, the district court ordered that the motion to enforce settlement was denied, ordered immediate compliance of the books and records request which was the subject of the arbitration award confirmed by the district court, and ordered reimbursement of plaintiff TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC’s fees and costs, with First 100 and non-party Jay Bloom being “jointly and severally responsible” for payment of such fees and costs. AA1298.

This appeal follows, with Appellants contending that the district court erred in (1) denying the motion to enforce settlement; and (2) holding that non-party Jay Bloom is “jointly and severally responsible” for the payment of fees and costs to TGC/Farkas Funding pursuant to an alter ego finding, despite the fact that no alter ego cause of action was alleged, and the evidence presented did not support an alter ego finding with respect to Mr. Bloom and First 100.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

First 100 was in the business of purchasing the beneficial interest in delinquent HOA receivables and then buying the real properties at foreclosure sales. AA0918-

919. Jay Bloom served as the Director of First 100. AA0919.

The members of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC are Matthew Farkas and TGC 100 Investor, LLC, who each share a 50% membership interest. Mtn. to Enforce Settlement at Ex. C. In the original “Limited Liability Company Agreement of TGC/Farkas Funding LLC,” Section 4.1 identified Mr. Farkas as the “Administrative Member” of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC, meaning that he served as a “manager” of the company and was responsible for making “all business and managerial decisions for the company.” AA1013. Further, Section 4.4 of the original “Limited Liability Company Agreement of TGC/Farkas Funding LLC” states that persons dealing with TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC “are entitled to rely conclusively upon the power and authority of the Administrative Member.” AA1004.

On or around 2013, TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC invested \$1 million into First 100’s business in exchange for a one percent membership interest, which was later parlayed into a three percent total interest. AA0007. In October 2013, signing as the CEO of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC, Matthew Farkas executed the subscription booklet on behalf of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC, which set forth the company’s membership interest in First 100. AA00614-632.

Thereafter, in April 2017, First 100 circulated to its members a Membership Interest Redemption Agreement which provided for the redemption or buy back of the member’s interest at \$1.5 million per percentage of ownership interest, or a

fraction thereof on a pro rata basis. On or around April 15, 2017, Matthew Farkas executed a redemption agreement, once again on behalf of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC. AA0634-639. *See also*, AA0008 (“It was not clear from the initial briefs and exhibits whether Matthew Farkas signed a Redemption Agreement for [TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC]. However, the additional evidence clarified that he actually did sign such an agreement.”).

Thereafter, on July 13, 2017, TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC’s counsel sent correspondence to First 100’s counsel claiming that Mr. Farkas “is not the manager of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC” and “does not have authority to bind TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC.” AA1068. Adam Flatto of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC would later refute that contention in a declaration dated August 13, 2020, in which he admitted that as of that point (August 2020), Mr. Farkas “was, and still is, the ‘Administrative Member’ of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC,” who does in fact have the power to bind TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC after consulting with all members. AA1064.

In any event, also within the July 13, 2017 correspondence, TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC’s counsel made a request for the inspection and copying of First 100’s books and records, ostensibly pursuant to NRS 86.241. AA1069.

First 100 initially refused to provide its business records to TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC for numerous reasons, among them that First 100 had not received evidence that Matthew Farkas, who is Mr. Bloom’s brother-in-law and a 50%

member of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC, had actually approved of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC retaining Garner Turner Gordon and making such a demand upon First 100. AA0161. The demand was particularly odd, as First 100 has not been operational since about 2017, has no office, no employees, no cash, and only a single asset in the form of a substantial judgment against an individual that breached a funding commitment to the company. AA0920.

Thereafter, in January 2020, TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC initiated arbitration proceedings against First 100 regarding the inspection of First 100's business records. In the arbitration proceedings, TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC produced an engagement letter, which purportedly proved that Matthew Farkas did approve of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC retaining Garman Turner Gordon to resolve the dispute with First 100. That engagement letter has a handwritten condition that "the matter shall not include any litigation against First 100, LLC." AA0171-172.

The arbitration panel ruled in favor of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC, which was later confirmed by the district court, resulting in a ruling that First 100 "make all the requested documents and information available . . . for inspection and copying," and a judgment against First 100 and in favor of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC in the amount of \$23,975.00 for fees and costs. AA0055. The district court then granted TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC's subsequent motion for additional attorneys' fees on top of the fees already awarded by the Arbitrator. AA0575-578.

TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC thereafter moved forward with post-judgment discovery. AA0131-150.

Appellants contend that in January 2021, Mr. Bloom and Mr. Farkas engaged in discussions about the counterproductive nature of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC continuing with litigation against First 100 in light of the fact that there is currently no cash in the company. AA0924. Mr. Bloom had also previously discussed with Adam Flatto (CEO of TGC 100 Investor, LLC, a member of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC) the fact that TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC wanted its money back, plus six percent. AA0924. Mr. Farkas particularly “did not want to sue” either Mr. Bloom or [First 100] because of his familial relationship with Mr. Bloom, and admittedly wanted to “be away from it.” AA0849.

Based on those conversations, Mr. Bloom on behalf of First 100 and Mr. Farkas on behalf of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC came to a settlement, and Mr. Bloom drafted a settlement agreement. AA0925. The terms involved TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC receiving its million dollar investment back, plus six percent, in exchange for TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC ending its litigation against First 100. AA0926; AA0167-169.

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Farkas testified that he “mistakenly” signed the Settlement Agreement too quickly and thought he was signing documents to retain a lawyer. AA0859. Despite that, it is undisputed that Matthew Farkas did in

fact execute the Settlement Agreement on behalf of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC on January 7, 2021. AA0858. Further, in Section 14 of the Settlement Agreement, Mr. Farkas represented and warranted that he had “full power and authority to enter into this Agreement.” AA0168.

Mr. Farkas also testified that he signed the Settlement Agreement on his own at a UPS store, not in the presence of Mr. Bloom, and that nobody was threatening him to sign the Settlement Agreement. AA0859. Mr. Farkas his decision not to read the Settlement Agreement before signing it was his own choice, not something that Jay Bloom told him to do. AA0859. Mr. Farkas also testified that he could have contacted Adam Flatto of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC and consulted with him before signing the Settlement Agreement – he just chose not to. AA0861. Mr. Farkas also testified that he could have crossed out terms in the Settlement Agreement if he so desired. AA0861. Put simply, Mr. Farkas admitted “[i]t’s my fault” that he did not read the Settlement Agreement before signing it. AA0860.

In conjunction with executing the Settlement, Mr. Farkas also retained counsel for TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC, Raffi A. Nahabedian, Esq., who on January 14, 2021 sent correspondence to Garman Turner Gordon indicating that he had been retained and that pursuant to the TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC Operating Agreement, Mr. Farkas has full authority to retain and terminate legal representation for TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC in his manager capacity. A0413-414. Mr. Nahabedian

enclosed a substitution of counsel for Garman Turner Gordon to execute, as well as a signed letter from Mr. Farkas which stated that he no longer consented to Garman Turner Gordon taking any further legal actions on behalf of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC. AA0415-418.

At some point after the parties had executed the Settlement Agreement, Mr. Bloom learned that Mr. Farkas had executed a document on September 17, 2020 purporting to amend the Limited Liability Company Agreement of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC in which TGC Investor (acting solely through Adam Flatto) was replaced as the Administrative Member of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC. AA0448-454; AA00932.

On January 15, 2021, Garman Turner Gordon submitted correspondence to Mr. Nahabedian advising him of this amendment. AA0445-447. Following that correspondence, Mr. Nahabedian terminated his legal services, as it was his understanding that Mr. Farkas was actually the “manager” of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC. AA0430-431.

However, at the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Bloom testified that prior to entering into the Settlement Agreement, Mr. Farkas “insisted that he was still the manager” of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC. AA0922. Mr. Bloom also testified that the last he had heard from Mr. Flatto was in the August 2020 declaration in which he reiterated that Mr. Farkas remained the Administrative Member and manager of TGC/Farkas

Funding, LLC. AA0922.

Mr. Bloom also testified that the primary way he communicated to TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC was through Mr. Farkas. AA0923. This is corroborated by emails between Mr. Bloom and Mr. Farkas over the years. AA0988-991. Finally, Mr. Bloom testified that the reason he attempted to resolve the dispute directly with Mr. Farkas instead of through counsel was because he had prior bad experiences with law firms wanting to continue litigation for economic reasons. AA0927.

As such, Appellants contend that Mr. Farkas exercised his apparent authority as 50% member and Administrative Manager of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC to settle the case. In light of Garman Turner Gordon subsequently claiming that there was no settlement and no substitution of counsel, First 100 filed a motion to enforce the settlement agreement executed by the parties and to vacate post-judgment discovery proceedings. AA0156-208. That motion was fully briefed by the parties. AA0156-208; AA0330-574; AA0585-715.

Around that same time, following an *ex parte* motion from TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC, the district court issued an order to show cause as to why First 100 and non-party Jay Bloom should not be held in contempt for failing to abide by the order confirming the Arbitration Award. AA0151-155. The parties also fully submitted briefing on that order to show cause. AA0123-130; AA0209-214; AA0215-322.

At a hearing on January 28, 2021, the district court determined that “there are material questions of fact that prevent the Court from granting the Motion to Enforce,” and elected to set an evidentiary hearing on both the Order to Show Cause and the Motion to Enforce and Countermotion for Sanctions. AA0737.

Notably, not included in the district court’s order setting the evidentiary hearing was any indication that the parties would need to put on evidence with respect to an analysis as to whether non-party Jay Bloom is the alter ego of First 100. At no point, either in the arbitration proceedings or in the district court proceedings, did TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC bring a cause of action for alter ego against non-party Jay Bloom or First 100.

In an effort to fully comply with the district court’s order confirming the Arbitration Award, First 100’s counsel submitted correspondence to TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC’s counsel on February 12, 2021, reiterating that First 100 would need to hire an accountant (Michael Henriksen, the former controller of First 100) in order to obtain the books and records requested, including financial statements, general ledgers, and accounts payable incurred by First 100. AA1092-1093. Mr. Henriksen set forth his understanding of the documents requested and indicated the challenges associated with obtaining documents from years ago when First 100 was an active company. *Id.*

Accordingly, it has always been clear and undisputed that Mr. Bloom had no

control over the First 100 company books and records sought, as such records needed to be obtained by Mr. Henriksen. *Id.* At no point was evidence submitted indicating that Mr. Bloom obtained and withheld potentially responsive documents related to First 100's books and records that should have been disclosed to TGC/Farkas Funding. No evidence could have been submitted, as that never happened.

II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On October 1, 2020, TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC filed its motion to confirm the arbitration award, which had previously (1) compelled the production of First 100's company records; and (2) ordered the reimbursement of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC's fees and costs. AA0001-40. The arbitration award made it clear that only the "Respondents," meaning First 100 and 1st One Hundred Holdings, were responsible for paying the arbitration fees. AA0010. No ruling was issued against Jay Bloom personally by the arbitration panel. AA010.

The motion to confirm the arbitration award was fully briefed, with First 100 setting forth a limited opposition and seeking clarification that pursuant to the plain language of First 100's Operating Agreement, TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC would have to pay the reasonable cost of obtaining and furnishing First 100's records. AA0041-46.

On November 17, 2020, the district court granted TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC's motion to confirm the arbitration award, and denied First 100's

countermotion to modify the award with respect to requiring TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC to pay for the books and records production pursuant to both NRS 86.243(3) and First 100's Operating Agreement. AA0053-59. The district court's order specifically entered a judgment against only First 100 and 1st One Hundred Holdings (not non-party Jay Bloom) in the amount of \$23,975.00 for the fees and costs. *Id.*

On November 17, 2020, TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC filed a motion for attorneys' fees and costs, seeking additional fees and costs on top of what the arbitration panel already awarded. AA0069-110. That motion was fully briefed, and on January 27, 2021, the district court issued its order granting TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC's motion for additional attorneys' fees and costs. AA0579-584. That order imposed a judgment against only First 100 and 1st One Hundred Holdings (not non-party Jay Bloom) in the amount of \$9,060.20. *Id.*

At no point did TGC/Farkas Funding seek to amend either judgment in order to add non-party Jay Bloom as a judgment debtor. Despite that, on December 18, 2021, TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC filed an *ex parte* application for an order to show cause why First 100 and non-party Jay Bloom should not be held in contempt of court for failure to comply with the order confirming the Arbitration Award. AA0123-130. The district court granted the *ex parte* application that same day. AA0151-155.

Thereafter, TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC moved forward with post-judgment

discovery. AA0131-150. Various objections were raised with respect to the discovery, including non-party Jay Bloom objecting to a subpoena issued to him and the unilateral setting of his deposition. AA0247-252. TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC was dissatisfied with the discovery responses received, and on January 20, 2021 filed a supplement to its *ex parte* application for an order to show cause. AA0215-0322.

On January 19, 2021, First 100 filed its motion to enforce the Settlement Agreement and vacate post-judgment proceedings. AA0156-208. That motion attached the settlement agreement that Jay Bloom executed on behalf of First 100, and that Matthew Farkas executed on behalf of TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC. AA0167-168. That motion was fully briefed, with TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC opposing and filing a countermotion for sanctions. AA0330-351.

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