IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FIRST 100, LLC; and 1st ONE HUNDRED HOLDINGS, LLC, Electronically Filed p.m.

Electronically Filed New Of 2021 06:24 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

TGC/FARKAS FUNDING, LLC, Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 82794

Eighth Judicial District Court Case No. A-20-822273-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

ERIKA PIKE TURNER
NVBN 6454
DYLAN T. CICILIANO
NVBN 12348
7251 Amigo Street, Suite 210
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Tel: (725) 777-3000
Fax: (725) 777-3112
Attorneys for Respondent
TGC/Farkas Funding, LLC

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

[Judgment] in contempt of Court (civil)," and awarded contempt sanctions in the form of attorneys' fees and costs related to the contempt against First 100 and Bloom.

- 1. Bloom disobeyed a Court order, for which he was accessed monetary sanctions. Bloom, the sole natural person in control of First 100, refused to produce the books and records of First 100 in violation of the Judgment. Bloom was found in contempt because he was the sole natural person responsible for First 100's non-compliance.
- 2. Bloom was afforded due process. Bloom was personally served with the Contempt Motion/OSC, filed an opposition thereto through counsel, personally appeared at the Evidentiary Hearing to testify and otherwise participate, presented evidence through counsel, and called and examined witnesses through counsel.
- 3. No valid settlement agreement existed. TGC/Farkas did not negotiate or agree to the terms of the Settlement Agreement. Instead, through threats, undue influence and deceit, Bloom procured Farkas' signature on the Settlement Agreement, which purported to release the Judgment and mandate dismissal of the district court action. Bloom, however, knew that Farkas lacked authority to sign the Settlement Agreement, including from the binding and final Arb. Award. Accordingly, the Settlement Agreement was not valid or enforceable. Even assuming there was binding authority (which there was not), the district court did

not abuse its discretion in finding that the Settlement Agreement lacked consideration and equity would not support enforcement of the Settlement Agreement.

VIII. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. First 100 does not have standing to challenge a finding that Bloom is in contempt.

"Entitlement to appellate relief [] requires both standing and an appealable order." ¹²⁶ The primary issue on appeal is whether the district court erred in finding *Bloom* was in contempt. Bloom is not an appellant and has not made an appearance following the Notice of Appeal as the real-party-in-interest. ¹²⁷ Even if the FFCL is directly appealable, First 100 has not been aggrieved by the finding that Bloom was in contempt and jointly and severally liable for the contempt sanctions. ¹²⁸

As the contemnor, Bloom is the obvious real-party-in-interest of the appeal's

¹²⁶ Matter of T.L., 133 Nev. 790, 795, 406 P.3d 494, 498 (2017).

¹²⁷ Doc. 2021-26748. The notice of appeal in this action identifies that Appellants and Bloom appealed the FFCL. Doc. 2021-11474. The case appeal statement, however, does not include Bloom as an appellant. Doc. 2021-11944. The docketing statements does not include Bloom as an appellant. Doc. 2021-14409. The Opening Brief does not identify Bloom as an appellant.

NRAP 3A(a) (providing that a party must be "aggrieved by an appealable judgment or order" to have standing to "appeal from that judgment or order"); *Valley Bank of Nev. v. Ginsburg*, 110 Nev. 440, 446, 874 P.2d 729, 734 (1994) (holding that a party is aggrieved within the meaning of NRAP 3A(a) when either a personal right or right of property is adversely affected by a court ruling).

request for review of the FFCL.¹²⁹ As Bloom did not file any writ petition to request review,¹³⁰ thereby acknowledging the lack of merit of any such petition, First 100 lacks standing to raise issues surrounding the district court's finding that Bloom was in contempt.

B. Bloom's contempt is based on his disobedience to the Judgment, not a finding that he is First 100's alter ego.

Notwithstanding First 100's lack of standing, the appeal basis also lacks merit. The district court was abundantly clear that contempt was based on the finding that "[First 100] and Bloom disobeyed and resisted the [Judgment] in contempt of Court (civil)."¹³¹ The Court's finding is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. ¹³²

To try to create an issue on appeal, First 100 falsely contends that the FFCL held that Bloom was liable for the Judgment *because* he is First 100's alter ego. No such order was made, nor is any such determination necessary to support a finding of contempt against Bloom.

¹²⁹ Detwiler, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 18, 486 P.3d at 720–22 (recognizing a third-party contemnor's challenge of a contempt finding through a writ petition); Div. of Child & Family Services, Dept. of Human Res., State of Nevada v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. County of Clark, 120 Nev. 445, 449–50, 92 P.3d 1239, 1242 (2004).

¹³⁰ *Mona v. Eighth Judicial District Court of State in and for County of Clark,* 132 Nev. 719, 725, 380 P.3d 836, 840 (2016).

¹³¹ FFCL, AA, Vol. VI, AA1337:10-12.

¹³² *Detwiler*, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 18, 486 P.3d at 715.

Importantly, the Judgment did two things: 1) compel production of First 100's books and records; and 2) order fees and costs related to the arbitration and contested proceedings confirming the Arb. Award.¹³³

The finding of contempt was only based on the failure to produce books and records, and Bloom was personally held in contempt based on his intentional actions to frustrate First 100's compliance with the Judgment, not just because Bloom was First 100's alter ego. Accordingly, to sustain the contempt finding, this Court only needs to find that the district court did not abuse its discretion when finding that Bloom caused First 100 to disobey the Judgment.

1. As the sole natural agent of First 100, Bloom can be found in contempt for disobedience and/or resistance of the Judgment.

First 100's AOB argues that just by virtue of Bloom not being a party to the Judgment, he cannot be found to be in contempt of the Judgment. However, Nevada's contempt statutes (NRS Chapter 22) are directed *to conduct* of persons resisting or disobeying enforceable court orders, not just to the parties.

While limited liability companies are separate legal entities, they operate through the direction and control of natural persons. 136 Company agents, therefore,

¹³³ FFCL, AA, Vol. VI, AA1307-1308; AA0060-AA0068.

¹³⁴ FFCL, AA, Vol. VI, AA1337:10-12.

¹³⁵ AOB at p. 15.

¹³⁶ See e.g. Collins v. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 99 Nev. 284, 303, 662 P.2d

may be punished for contempt where they direct the company's violations of court orders, as "a command to the corporation is in effect a command to those who are officially responsible for its affairs; if they, apprised of the [order], prevent compliance or fail to take appropriate action within their power for the performance of the corporate duty, they, no less than the corporation itself, are guilty of disobedience and may be punished for contempt."¹³⁷

The "Responsible Party" rule, as it is often referred to, is neither controversial nor inapplicable. Courts around the country, including those interpreting Nevada law, recognize that contempt powers reach through the corporate veil to command not only the entity, but those who are officially responsible for the conduct of its affairs. ¹³⁸ If it were otherwise, a company's truculent manager could simply ignore

^{610, 622 (1983)(}recognizing that a shareholder cannot conspire with the entity its controls).

¹³⁷ 17 C.J.S. Contempt § 51 (updated 2020); *see Detwiler*, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 18, 486 P.3d at 719 (citing favorably to Corpus Juris Secundum on Contempt); *see also* NRCP 37(b) (compelling compliance and authorizing sanctions against a party's "officers, directors or managing agents" for court discovery orders).

Trust Fund of Local Union #58, IBEW v. Gary's Elec. Service Co., 340 F.3d 373, 380 (6th Cir. 2003) (holding defendant's non-party officer in contempt for the defendant's failure to obey the court's judgment and order). Electrical Workers Pension Trust Fund of Local Union #58; United States v. Laurins, 857 F.2d 529, 535 (9th Cir. 1988) ("A nonparty may be liable for contempt if he or she either abets or is legally identified with the named defendant...An order to a corporation binds those who are legally responsible for the conduct of its affairs.") (emphasis added); Peterson v. Highland Music, Inc., 140 F.3d 1313, 1323-24 (9th Cir. 1988); NLRB v.

a court's command with impunity.

Luv n Care Ltd. v. Laurain is particularly instructive on this point. ¹³⁹ There, a non-party Nevada limited liability company that had ceased operating was found in contempt after it failed to respond to a subpoena for documents. ¹⁴⁰ The managing member of the entity was found in contempt after arguing that he was legally distinguishable from the subpoenaed entity and was alternatively not in possession of responsive documents. ¹⁴¹ In holding the manager in contempt, the Nevada Federal District Court recognized that "an order to a corporation or another entity binds those who are legally responsible for the conduct of its affairs." ¹⁴² The court found when a company receives a court order for the production of documents, the company, as well as those responsible for its affairs and records, must take reasonable steps to comply with the order. ¹⁴³ This expressly extends to the production of documents by the company's manager, who by statute must safeguard

Sequoia Dist. Council of Carpenters, 568 F.2d 628, 633 (9th Cir. 1977); 1st Tech, LLC v. Rational Enter., Ltd., 2008 WL 4571057, at *8 (D. Nev. July 29, 2008).

¹³⁹ 2019 WL 4279028, at * 4 (D. Nev. Sept. 10, 2019)

¹⁴⁰ *Id*. at *1.

¹⁴¹ *Id.* at *3-4.

¹⁴² *Id*.

¹⁴³ *Id.* at *5.

the company's assets and records.¹⁴⁴ Put another way, those who are legally responsible for the conduct of a company's affairs may not simply disregard a court order requiring the production of documents.¹⁴⁵

Bloom, like the managing member in *Luv N Care*, cannot avoid obligations arising from the district court Judgment by hiding behind the corporate veil or otherwise disclaiming possession of First 100's records that are in his legal custody.

2. The district court did not abuse its discretion in finding Bloom in contempt.

Bloom is First 100's registered agent, principal, and chairman. The district court found that the entities comprising First 100 are manager-managed, and Bloom is the only person with authority or power to do any act that would be binding on First 100.¹⁴⁶ In other words, Bloom alone could cause First 100 to obey or disobey the Judgment.¹⁴⁷ As such Bloom had to take reasonable steps to comply with the Judgment.¹⁴⁸

The district court found that First 100 and Bloom did nothing to produce

¹⁴⁴ *Id*.

¹⁴⁵ *Id*.

 $^{^{146}}$ RA, Vol. II, RA0322 – 0349, RA0327 at Sects. 3.17, RA0333 at 6.1(A); RA, Vol. II, RA0350 - 0380, RA0354 at Sects. 3.17, RA0360 at 6.1(A).

¹⁴⁷ FFCL, AA, Vol. VI, AA1325:4-14.

¹⁴⁸ *Id.* at AA1334:21-25; RA, Vol. II, RA0322 – 0349; RA, Vol. II, RA0350 – 0380.

documents in response to the Judgment.¹⁴⁹ Instead, Bloom orchestrated a scheme to discharge the Judgment through the bogus Settlement Agreement.¹⁵⁰ Both of these actions/inactions demonstrate disobedience to the Judgment that give rise to contempt.

"The burden of proving inability to comply is upon contemners." ¹⁵¹ In the Judgment itself, the district court considered and rejected First 100's earlier request to amend the Arb. Award to condition the production of documents on the payment of costs to First 100. ¹⁵² First 100 did not appeal the Judgment, such that it became a final order subject to issue preclusion. ¹⁵³ First 100 failed to submit the issue of fee shifting to the arbitrators, thereby precluding consideration of the issue by the district court or this Court. ¹⁵⁴

3. NRS 86.371 does not shield Bloom from contempt.

First 100's AOB argues that Bloom is absolutely immune from contempt

¹⁴⁹ FFCL, AA, Vol. VI, AA1324:20-22.

¹⁵⁰ *Id.* at AA1336:15-18.

¹⁵¹ McCormick v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Court in & for Humboldt County, 67 Nev. 318, 326, 218 P.2d 939, 943 (1950)

¹⁵² FFCL, AA, Vol. VI, AA1308:2-20.

¹⁵³ *Id*.

 $^{^{154}}$ *Id*.

proceedings under NRS 86.371. While managers and members are not liable for debts of the company under NRS 86.371, whether Bloom is in contempt of an order is a different question from whether he is liable for First 100's debts. The FFCL does not make Bloom liable for First 100's debts (to wit, the monetary award of the Judgment). Instead, it finds Bloom in contempt for disobeying the Judgment's performance obligations. NRS 86.371 does not insulate members and managers from liability related to their actions, 155 such that NRS 86.371 does not preclude the contempt finding against Bloom or his liability for the contempt sanctions.

4. The district court's discussion of alter ego does not change the outcome of the FFCL or constitute error.

The near entirety of Opening Brief is dedicated to two paragraphs of the FFCL that mention *alter ego*. ¹⁵⁶ First 100 seizes on the opportunity to falsely conclude that the district court found Bloom to be in contempt just by virtue of his being First 100's *alter ego*. Bloom was found to be in contempt because he is First 100's responsible party and instead of directing compliance, Bloom bucked it. The

Under a variety of circumstances members and managers of a company are personally liable for their own actions. *See Gardner v. Henderson Water Park, LLC*, 133 Nev. 391, 393, 399 P.3d 350, 351 (2017); *see also* NRS 78.138(7)(recognizing liability for intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law); *Montgomery v. eTrepped Technologies, LLC*, 548 F.Supp.2d 1175, 1179 (D. Nev. 2008) (recognizing the application of corporate law regarding the business judgment rule to limited liability companies).

¹⁵⁶ FFCL, AA, Vol. VI, AA1335:1-AA1336:3.

discussion of *alter ego* went to the equities at bar. The district court noted that "*in addition* to the 'responsible party' rule that applies to contempt, there should be no immunity for liability when, as her, Bloom is [First 100's] *alter ego*."¹⁵⁷ The district court identified that only Bloom controlled First 100, First 100 was in default with the Nevada Secretary of State, had no operations, no employees, no bank accounts, no active governance, and claimed there were no corporate records. The district court found that it would be inequitable for Bloom to escape the consequences of his causing First 100 to ignore the Order. In other words, notwithstanding his liability as First 100's responsible party, under the circumstances the corporate form should not shield Bloom from the consequences of his disobedience and resistance of the Judgment, observing that if that were not the case "there would never be a consequence for an entity's non-compliance."¹⁵⁹

In addition, while it is unnecessary to determine whether Bloom is First 100's *alter ego*, the record supports such a finding. It is undeniable that Bloom influences and governs First 100 and that there is a unity of interest between Bloom and First 100.¹⁶⁰ Further, the district court found that it would promote a manifest injustice

¹⁵⁷ *Id.* at AA1336:1-3.

¹⁵⁸ *Id.* at AA1335:18-24.

¹⁵⁹ *Id.* at AA1334:27-AA335:2.

¹⁶⁰ The FFCL sets forth a unity of interest, including the following relative factors: undercapitalization, the failure to observe corporate formalities, refusal to produce

not to hold Bloom responsible for his actions on behalf of First 100, as doing so would effectively immunize the contempt. Accordingly, substantial evidence exists—i.e. evidence a reasonable person could accept—that Bloom is First 100's alter ego. 162

C. Bloom was not denied due process.

First 100 asserts that Bloom was not afforded due process and was deprived his right to due process "under Section 1 of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States" as he was "not able to take depositions or file dispositive motions as to himself personally." (AOB at p. 22). Bloom failed to raise the argument in the district court, thereby waiving it. 163

__

records, the non-existence of bank accounts and employees, and Blooms' domination and control over Appellants. *DFR Apparel Co., Inc. v. Triple Seven Promotional Products, Inc.*, 2:11-CV-01406-APG, 2014 WL 4828874, at *2 (D. Nev. Sept. 30, 2014); *N. Arlington Med. Bldg., Inc. v. Sanchez Const. Co.*, 86 Nev. 515, 523, 471 P.2d 240, 245 (1970).

¹⁶¹FFCL, AA, Vol. VI, AA1335:24-AA1336:3.

¹⁶² N. Arlington Med. Bldg., Inc. v. Sanchez Const. Co., 86 Nev. 515, 523, 471 P.2d 240, 245 (1970); Vredenburg v. Sedgwick CMS, 124 Nev. 553, 557 n. 4, 188 P.3d 1084, 1087 n. 4 (2008) (defining "Substantial evidence" as "evidence that a reasonable person could accept as adequately supporting a conclusion.").

¹⁶³ Nelson v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court in & for County of Clark, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 14, 484 P.3d 270, 272 (2021) (finding due process argument waived when not raised in the district court); Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981).

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